### NOT YET SCHEDULED FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

23-CM-433

23-CM-433



## IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

DEVON GREENFIELD,

Appellant,

ν.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

On Appeal From The Superior Court Of The District Of Columbia

OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT DEVON GREENFIELD

Richard P. Goldberg (Bar No. 492926)
Counsel of Record and Counsel for Oral Argument
GOLDBERG & GOLDBERG, PLLC
1250 Connecticut Avenue NW, Suite 700
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 656-5774
richard.goldberg@goldberglawdc.com
Counsel for Devon Greenfield

### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. At trial, the only evidence of the defendant's intent was that a highly trained police officer could identify PCP. Where the government has failed to prove that the defendant could also identify PCP, and therefore failed to prove intent, can a conviction for attempted possession of a controlled substance stand?
- 2. Where a small container inside the defendant's bag was searched without a warrant, without probable cause or even reasonable suspicion, before his arrest, and then he arrested only due to what was found during that search, will the search be upheld under the Fourth Amendment?
- 3. Where the trial court abuses its discretion in permitting the government to admit an exhibit in rebuttal, and without that exhibit, the evidence would have been insufficient to convict, may the conviction stand?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Devon Greenfield was charged by superseding criminal information with Possession of an Open Container of Alcohol ("POCA"), in violation of D.C. Code § 25-1001(a)(1) (2001) and D.C. Code § 25-1001(d) (2001); and Attempted Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance, in violation of D.C. Code § 48-904.01(d) (2001) and D.C. Code § 48-904.09 (2001). A.3.¹ The charges stemmed from an incident on December 1, 2022, during which police stopped and searched Mr. Greenfield, finding small bottles alleged (but apparently never tested) to contain PCP. *See* A.3.

At the conclusion of a two-day bench trial, Mr. Greenfield was found guilty on both counts. A.39. He was sentenced to time served on the POCA count, A.62, and to 180 days the count for Attempted Possession, A.63, to run concurrently, and a VVC fine of \$50 for each count, A.63; A.64. Having filed a timely notice of appeal, A.6, Mr. Greenfield now appeals his convictions.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Before trial, the defense filed a motion to suppress evidence. The government filed an opposition. But the hearing was not held before trial. Instead, the trial court, over the objections of defense counsel, held the suppression hearing as part of the bench trial. *See* Tr. 04/19/2023 at 5-6 (defense counsel objecting); *id.* at 28, 29, 30 (further objections). Furthermore, defense counsel stated, *and the trial court agreed*, that because the hearing and trial would be held concurrently,

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the appendix are in the form, "A.[page number]"; citations to the two-day hearing and trial transcripts are in the form "Tr. [date] at [page number]."

the defense's objections to introduction of material found during the search of Mr. Greenfield and its motion to suppress that evidence were continuing.<sup>2</sup> Tr. 04/19/2023 at 32; A.26.

The government called two witnesses: MPD Senior Officer Scott Brown, who testified as an expert; and MPD Officer Carter Moore, who testified as a fact witness. (The combination of the suppression hearing and the actual trial caused a great deal of confusion, and the expert testimony was referred to throughout the hearing-trial proceedings.) The defense did not call any witnesses.<sup>3</sup>

## A. Officer Brown testified as an expert in identifying the odor of PCP.

As its first witness, the government called Senior MPD Officer Scott Brown as an expert witness. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 39. However, first there was argument regarding whether an expert should be called at all.

According to the government—during argument over whether an expert should be admitted, in which argument the government ultimately prevailed—the expert was necessary, in part, to testify about "the characteristics of PCP, including its odor." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 19. The defense objected that an expert witness is

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The court suggested that defense counsel would be "reserving" his objections to admissibility, and counsel's position on the motion to suppress, because he feared that he might "forget to re-raise them." The court, therefore, stated that it would "understand them to be continuing." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The defense also did introduce any exhibits as part of the trial; it did, however, seek to introduce exhibits as part of the suppression hearing. *See*, *e.g.*, Tr. 04/19/2023 at 129 (admitting Exhibit D1 "for the limited purpose of the suppression motion."); *id.* at 151 (striking D1 and D2 due to confusion of exhibits). As a result, the defense eventually used Government's Exhibit 1. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 151-53.

supposed to provide information in "a unique area that is so unknown to the public that an expert is needed to help provide information linked to that specific issue, that only the expert would have that specialty." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 19-20. Agreeing with that standard, the government explained that its expert would provide "specialized knowledge. It requires years of training and experience to acquire that knowledge." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 20 (AUSA Sanchez). The government prevailed, and the court denied the defense objection to introduction of expert testimony, finding that Officer Brown would be called "as an expert in the area[] of identifying the controlled substance [PCP]." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 21.

Officer Brown testified that he had been an officer with MPD for 32 years, with 20 of those years as part of the Violent Crime Suppression Division, detailed to the Safe Streets Task Force with the FBI. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 39. He explained that he had also been a detective with the Narcotics and Special Investigative Division before he retired—and then returned two weeks later as part of the Senior Police Officer program. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 39-40.

Officer Brown explained that his expertise was drawn from thousands of narcotics cases, including many with PCP. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 41. He had also taken training with the DEA, including PCP remediation training. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 44. Ultimately, the government tendered Officer Brown as an expert witness, explicitly (among other areas) in the "specific characteristics" and "identification" of PCP, including its odor. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 48-49. All of this was over the repeated objections of defense counsel. *See*, *e.g.*, Tr. 04/19/2023 at 49.

Officer Brown further testified that he had no first-hand knowledge about the facts in the case, and he was not "at the scene" in the case. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 49. Generally, though, he testified that PCP is packaged in glass vials, "perfume bottles," and that it is always in liquid form in D.C. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 50. Further drawing on his expertise, he testified that PCP may come in varying colors: It is "usually a light yellowish color . . . all the way to a kind of amber color, but . . . it fluctuates in between, like I said, a light yellowish color to like an orange amber color." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 50. He explained that PCP may also be transferred to cigarettes, "dipper[s]," or "little tin packets." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 50-51.

Officer Brown was asked to give his expert opinion about the "specific odor of PCP." He testified that "[i]t's a a chemical kind of distinct odor . . . a strong, pungent odor." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 51. "PCP . . . has a, you know, a unique odor to it" that is "a different odor" than that of marijuana. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 53. Turning to the evidence collected in the case, Officer Brown testified that the vials had "a yellowish liquid inside of them which I've commonly seen as being a vessel used to resell PCP," which he confirmed was "similar to the packaging [he was] describing earlier" in his testimony. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 54.

# B. Officer Carter Moore testified about how his extensive training and experience allowed him to identify PCP, and about the seizure and search of Mr. Greenfield and his bag.

The government's sole fact witness was Officer Carter Moore, who had been an MPD officer for about four years. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 80. He testified that he was assigned to the Sixth District Crime Suppression Team, which specialized in volent crime, firearms, and illegal narcotics. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 80. Officer

Moore (like Officer Brown) had specific training in PCP, which included "the way [PCP] is commonly packaged" as well as its "distinct odor." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 82. Officer Moore also testified that he had been involved with over 200 narcotics cases, including 50 to 60 PCP cases. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 83. He also explained that he was "very familiar" with recognizing the smell of PCP, based on his experience with drugs in the Sixth District. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 93-94. He further explained that PCP has a "very chemical[] smell," something he was trained to recognize at the police academy. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 95.

Through Officer Moore, the government admitted Government's Exhibit 1, a portion of the officer's body-camera footage from the incident in question, which was played in open court.<sup>4</sup> Tr. 04/19/2023 at 88-89. He then testified that he exited his patrol car because he (or another officer) saw a group of individuals standing in the park, and he intended to "make contact with the individuals in the park since it was after hours," by which he meant the sun was down, "and it had been an area complaint [*sic*] for PCP use and sale." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 90. As he approached the individuals, Officer Moore testified, one of the three "separated and began to walk away." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 91. As he approached the remaining two individuals, he "could smell the odor of PCP in the air." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 94.

Officer Moore testified that he observed Mr. Greenfield walking away "in a hastily [sic] manner." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 96. Defense counsel objected, and the court clarified that "hastily" simply meant that Mr. Greenfield's speed had

5

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appellant has filed an unopposed motion to supplement the record with Government's Exhibit 1.

increased: "Either he thinks he's moving faster or he thinks he doesn't. *Hastily isn't about a state of mind*. It's about his actual physical movements, so I'm going to overrule," later adding "he is either moving faster or he's not." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 97 (striking the portion of the officer's answer that Mr. Greenfield was attempting "to get away from the uniformed law enforcement") (emphasis added). Eventually, Officer Moore testified, Mr. Greenfield was about 40 feet from the officers. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 98-99. The officer testified that he could recognize that the odor of PCP grew stronger as he approached Mr. Greenfield. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 99. His description was, literally, *cartoonish*: It was "[t]he same sense as—if you're smelling something being cooked like the cartoons where something's floating to a pie, it's the same thing." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 99. He also agreed that "[t]he smell of PCP, much like cigarette smoke, can be on someone if they're around other people smoking PCP." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 211.

When the officers reached Mr. Greenfield, they instructed him to stop and informed him that he was being stopped by police. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 100. Officer Moore testified that he asked Mr. Greenfield whether he had any firearms in his bag, not because he had any reason to believe Mr. Greenfield was armed, but because "I try to make it a practice to ask everybody I come into contact with . . . . It's a chance for them to let law enforcement know that they are in possession of a firearm." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 100. Officer Moore further testified that Mr. Greenfield said that he had a beer in his bag; the officer then continued the questioning, asking Mr. Greenfield to show him what was inside the bag, "just so I could ensure that there was [sic] no weapons in play." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 101.

Officer Moore then explained that in response to his further questioning, Mr. Greenfield removed from the bag a bottle of whiskey in an "open container." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 101.

Officer Moore testified that he waited until additional officers arrived, and he noted that he began smelling a strong odor of PCP "from the boo[k] bag." And, he testified, "I instructed officers to go ahead and place him in handcuffs at which point he was placed under arrest for the possession of an open container of alcohol. And I searched his bag, searched it incident to arrest and located the PCP vials in the bookbag." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 103. Asked about whether his detection of PCP had changed since he initially arrived on the scene, Officer Moore testified that "[i]t was just a constant strong smell of PCP," though "greater" than the odor before. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 104.

Officer Moore even testified (under oath) that he could detect that the smell was coming from a specific portion of the backpack: "either the front flap or the little tiny zipper on the side." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 104. When he searched the bag, he discovered a headphones case that, inside, contained three vials of what he recognized to be PCP, based on his training and experience. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 104. The smell of the headphone case "was about the same as the—when I was standing there with the bookbag." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 104. Officer Moore then testified that he advised the other officers that Mr. Greenfield would be arrested for possession with intent to distribute PCP.

What followed was testimony in which the government repeatedly asked questions about the packaging of the vials, upon which was attached a "DEA-7"

form, as well as the PD-81 (property record), as Government's Exhibit 4. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 109-18. Defense counsel objected, as hearsay, but the trial court overruled the objection. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 112-13, 115.

Turning back to the incident, Officer Moore testified that Mr. Greenfield *seemed* nervous when officers approached, though he admitted that because he did not know Mr. Greenfield otherwise, could not know anything about his normal behavior. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 120. He also admitted that when he arrived on the scene, he and another officer (Schimmel) actually *ran* after Mr. Greenfield. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 133. Although "it seemed like he just kept trying to get away and go home," Tr. 04/19/2023 at 120, Mr. Greenfield stopped when told, after which Officer Moore grabbed him and would not let him move further, Tr. 04/19/2023 at 133. At the time, he and the other officers were in full uniform, emblazoned with a blue MPD badge; all of the officers had sidearms, and in addition to he and Officer Schimmel, there were other officers approaching as well. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 156. Officer Moore took care to note, however, that Mr. Greenfield "did not take flight." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 132. He was merely walking away. *Id*.

Officer Moore testified that MPD had received multiple calls from concerned citizens (he did not testify that they were anything other than anonymous) that the area in which he encountered Mr. Greenfield was being used for the use and sale of PCP. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 83, 85.

# C. Officer Moore's body-worn camera captured sound and video from virtually the entire incident.

Through Officer Moore, the government successfully admitted, as

Government's Exhibit 1, the officer's body camera footage. The video shows that

after Officer Moore and Officer Shimmel run after Mr. Greenfield and reach him, the following may be heard and seen on the video:

Officer Moore: Stop stop stop stop stop stop.

Officer Moore: What you got in your hand?

Defendant: Nothing

Officer Moore: Nothing? Stop stop st st st st stop.

Officer Moore then grabs Mr. Greenfield by the arm.



Officer Schimmel: You are being stopped. All right, relax.

Officer Schimmel grabs Mr. Greenfield by the arm.





. .

Officer Moore: Drinking a beer?

Mr. Greenfield: Yeah.

Officer Moore: You don't got no guns in your bag or nothin'?

Mr. Greenfield: Nah

Officer Moore: Mind if I see?

Mr. Greenfield: I ain't got no guns.

By this point, Officer Moore has asked Mr. Greenfield four increasingly invasive questions, beginning with whether Mr. Greenfield is holding anything in his hands, proceeding to whether Mr. Greenfield has been drinking, and continuing to whether Mr. Greenfield any guns. Officer Moore has also asked whether he can look into Mr. Greenfield's bag, and Mr. Greenfield has declined to permit it.

Officer Moore: Mind if I see in your bag—make sure there ain't a gun there?

Mr. Greenfield: I ain't got no guns.

Officer Moore: Just beer?

Mr. Greenfield: Yeah

Officer Moore: No PCP?

Mr. Greenfield: Nah.

At this point, after an additional three questions, increasing to questioning about PCP, and another request to search the bag, Mr. Greenfield reaches into his bag and pulls out a Fireball bottle, then a closed can of beer.

Officer Moore: Ok. Why do I smell PCP coming from your bag, man?

Mr. Greenfield: I was just drinking a beer.

Officer Moore: Yeah, but I smell PCP coming from your bag. . . . yeah, go

ahead—your, your, go ahead, put your hands behind your back, yup.

Two officers then handcuff Mr. Greenfield, as Officer Moore seizes the bag and searches it, finds a headphones case, manipulates it while it remains closed, then unzips it, and shines a flashlight inside.

Officer Moore: No. PCP. Yup.

Officer Moore then speaks into the radio—the first time he has spoken into the radio during the video.

Officer Moore: PWID PCP. [He turns his attention to Mr. Greenfield.] You're

under arrest, all right.

Mr. Greenfield: We was just drinking a beer, man.

Officer Moore: No, you got PCP on you; I could smell it coming from your

bag.

See Government's Exhibit 1.

## D. The parties argued the motion to suppress.

The government rested. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 215. The court then moved on to the motion to suppress. In a written motion, the defense had argued that Mr. Greenfield's purportedly voluntary showing of the contents of his bag was not voluntary at all, because he had complied with the officer's show of authority. The defense also argued that any statements made by Mr. Greenfield, after he was unlawfully seized and his bag searched, should be suppressed. A.9-11. In court, the defense further argued (citing cases in the written motion) that police had

neither reasonable suspicion nor probable cause to stop and search Mr. Greenfield. Tr. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 221, and that the seizure was unlawful, *id.* at 225.

The government argued that Mr. Greenfield had been arrested immediately after officers saw the bottle of Fireball, and only after the arrest had they searched the bag to find PCP. A.17. It argued that Mr. Greenfield's act of walking away was "unprovoked flight," and that combined with the status of the park as a "highcrime area" used to sell and consume PCP, and the "very strong odor" of PCP, constituted reasonable, articulable suspicion to stop Mr. Greenfield. A.20. The government further argued that once police had stopped Mr. Greenfield under *Terry*, they developed probable cause to search his bag—presumably including inside the headphones container—because they believed he had violated the District's open-container law. A.20. The government further argued that the odor of PCP provided "independent[]" probable cause to arrest (though it did not argue to search) Mr. Greenfield. A.21-22 (arguing first that police had "probable cause," and that this meant "probable cause to arrest"). It was this *probable cause to* arrest that, according to the government, gave rise to "probable cause to search his backpack." A.22. Finally, it argued that Mr. Greenfield's statements were made voluntarily, because Mr. Greenfield was not in custody (though officers were, in fact, holding his arms) and not interrogated (though they were, in fact, asking questions). A.21-22.

## E. The trial court denied the motion to suppress.

Denying the motion to suppress, the trial court determined that Officer

Moore had conducted a *Terry* stop, as a result of the odor of PCP. In addition, the

court found, the following factors contributed to its decision: (1) it was night; (2) there had been reports of crime at the park, including the use and sale of PCP; (3) although the officers tried to get Mr. Greenfield to stop, they had to "lay a hand on him" to make him stop. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 234-35. The court found that Mr. Greenfield was asked whether he was armed, and he said no, and then he was asked if he would show is bag—and, the court found, "he agreed to show his bag, and voluntarily opened his bag and pulled out of the bag and half-showed what he was pulling out of the bag, was an open container of alcohol." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 235 (emphasis added).

The court then found that, "At that point he is arrested." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 235. "At that moment *you could hear it on the body-worn camera footage* . . . . The officer indicates that he is arresting him. He is holding him and he is arresting him." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 235 (emphasis added). The court further determined that at that point, Officer Moore began to search the bag "incident to the arrest." Tr. 04/19/2023 at 235. "He smells the PCP. He opens up the bag. He opens up the container. He feels the container to make sure that—according to his testimony, to make sure that it's safe. And then when he opens it, there are three vials of what he has identified as PCP in the—in the smaller container. Tr. 04/19/2023 at 235-36.

## F. After the parties rested, the government sought to admit a new exhibit.

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