BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 05/16/2024 04:05 PM Filed 05/16/2024 04:05 PM

No. 23-CM-433

DEVON GREENFIELD,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO

- * DAVID P. SAYBOLT, VA Bar #44518 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 David.Saybolt@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CMD-7141

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err by denying Greenfield's motion to suppress the PCP recovered from his shoulder bag. Police had reasonable articulable suspicion to stop Greenfield based on the strong odor of PCP emanating from his person and his walking away hastily from police in a park known for the sale of PCP. That suspicion ripened into probable cause to arrest Greenfield. As police drew near to him, they detected the increasingly strong odor of PCP coming from his bag, Greenfield resisted orders to stop, he claimed he was doing no more than drinking beer, and he produced an opened bottle of whiskey. The totality of these circumstances established a probability that Greenfield was committing possession of PCP and/or POCA. Finally, police were permitted to search

Greenfield's bag incident to his arrest and locate the three vials of PCP therein.

Contrary to Greenfield's claim, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by permitting the government to reopen its case at the close of the defense case to introduce the drug evidence. The government mistakenly believed the exhibit had been admitted and moved for admission as soon as it recognized its error. The exhibit was highly relevant. Moreover, the exhibit had been identified during the government's case-in-chief, and both parties had referred to it in testimony. Finally, Greenfield was not prejudiced because he never sought additional questioning or to reopen his case, and even now fails to proffer evidence he would have sought to develop in rebuttal.

Nor was there insufficient evidence of Greenfield's attempted possession of PCP. As the court found without clear error, when Greenfield was stopped by police, he was alone and carrying three vials of PCP in his shoulder bag and the PCP smell emanating from his bag was strong and recognizable. In addition, Greenfield carried an amount of PCP inconsistent with personal use and did so in a known location for the sale of PCP. Finally, Greenfield took multiple actions—quickly

walking away, resisting a police order to stop, attempting to conceal the contents of his bag—that the court reasonably found reflected Greenfield's awareness of his guilt.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Err By Denying Greenfield's Motion to Suppress Evidence.

Greenfield urges (at 30-43) that the trial court erred by denying his motion to suppress the PCP recovered from his person. He claims that police lacked probable cause to arrest him, and that even if they had justification for an arrest, they lacked a lawful basis to search the interior of his bag or the neoprene case containing the vials of PCP. His claim lacks merit.

A. Additional Background

In his March 28, 2023, motion and subsequent argument, Greenfield argued that police lacked reasonable articulable suspicion to stop him, that his stop constituted an arrest for which police lacked probable cause, and that his arrest rendered his consent to search his bag involuntary (R.9; see also 4-19 Tr. 214-24). In its April 5, 2023, opposition and subsequent argument, the government contended that police had

reasonable articulable suspicion to stop Greenfield, which ripened into probable cause to arrest him when he told them he had been drinking in the park, and/ or when he voluntarily displayed the opened bottle of whiskey in his bag (R.10:5-8; see also 4-19-23 Tr. 224-30). The government further contended that police independently obtained probable cause to arrest Greenfield when they detected the strong odor of PCP coming from Greenfield's bag, which odor was linked to Greenfield because he was carrying the bag and no one else was around (R.10:8-9). The government claimed the probable cause to arrest Greenfield permitted them to search his bag incident to his arrest for further evidence of his open container or drug-possession violations (id. at 9).

In denying the motion, the court found that police obtained reasonable articulable suspicion to stop Greenfield when they smelled the strong odor of PCP coming from him (4-19-23 Tr. 230-31). In addition, police knew it was nighttime and there had been calls and reports from tipsters concerning use and sale of PCP in the park at night (*id.* at 231). Moreover, when police tried to get Greenfield to slow down or stop, he did not do so, and police had to place a hand on him because he would not stop (*id.*). The court found at that point that Greenfield was stopped (*id.*).

The court found that police asked Greenfield if he had guns on him, and he said no (4-19-23 Tr. 231). The court further found that police then asked Greenfield if he would show his bag, and he voluntarily opened his bag and displayed the open container of alcohol, at which point he was arrested (*id.* at 231-32).

The court found that as police were arresting Greenfield, an officer searched the half-open bag incident to the arrest (4-19-23 Tr. 232). The searching officer smelled the PCP, felt the neoprene case to see if was safe, and then opened it, discovering the three small vials of what the officer identified as PCP (*id.*). The court found that police had probable cause to arrest Greenfield and search his bag incident to his arrest (*id.*).

B. Standard of Review

When reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, "the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in favor of sustaining the trial court ruling." *Plummer v. United States*, 983 A.2d 323, 330 (D.C. 2009) (citing *(Morris) Shelton v. United States*, 929 A.2d 420, 423 (D.C. 2007)). In addition, this Court "must defer to the motions court's findings of fact as to the circumstances surrounding the appellant's encounter with the police and [must] uphold them unless they are clearly

erroneous." *Plummer*, 983 A.2d at 330 (citing (Morris) Shelton, 929 A.2d at 423).

C. Analysis

1. Police Had Reasonable Articulable Suspicion to Support Their Stop.

The trial court found that as police crossed the footbridge in the park, they noticed the distinctive smell of PCP, and as they approached Greenfield, who by that time was not near anyone else, the smell of PCP grew increasingly stronger (4-19-23 Tr. 230-31; see also id. at 94, 97-98). These findings were supported by the testimony of Officer Moore and corroborated by his BWC, GX.1 (see supra pp. 2-6). The court's finding regarding the distinctive smell of the liquid PCP was grounded in the testimony of Officers Moore and Brown, whom the court credited, and who testified that liquid PCP gives off a strong, distinctive, chemical odor, particularly when the liquid is left at room temperature (4-19-23) Tr. 49-52, 119-22). Officer Moore was well aware of this smell and able to recognize it because he had been involved in 50-60 PCP cases (id. at 81, 94). Accordingly, the court's findings were not plainly wrong or without evidence to support them. D.C. Code § 17-305(a).

On the strength of these findings alone, police had reasonable articulable suspicion for their stop. *See Griffin v. United States*, 878 A.2d 1195, 1199 (D.C. 2005) (police had reasonable articulable suspicion to stop defendant after entering hotel lobby and smelling "a very strong odor of marijuana" coming from defendant).

In addition, as Officer Moore testified without objection and the court found without clear error, citizens had informed police that the park was commonly used by persons using and selling PCP, particularly at night (4-19-23 Tr. 231). The court also found that Greenfield was moving hastily away, and refused initial police requests that he stop until an officer placed a hand on his elbow (*id.*). These factors contributed to the totality of the circumstances authorizing police to stop Greenfield. See Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124-25 (2000) (unprovoked flight upon noticing police combined with presence in high-crime area sufficient to establish reasonable articulable suspicion for Terry stop).

Greenfield does not contest the basis for his stop, but he contends (at 25) that his leaving the scene in response to the police presence was not a factor supporting his stop. He is incorrect. To start, Greenfield did not "merely walk[] away," as he claims (at id.). He walked away "hastily"

(4-19-23 Tr. 94-95). Although Greenfield suggests that only headlong flight is relevant, this Court has rejected such a claim. See Howard v. United States, 929 A.2d 839, 845–46 (D.C. 2007) (defendant's act of "quickly walk[ing]" away from uniformed police supported reasonable articulable suspicion for stop); Wilson v. United States, 802 A.2d 367, 370 (D.C. 2002) (defendant's increased pace into an apartment building after seeing the police, coupled with his frantic pounding on an apartment door, was "an unprovoked instance of evasive behavior sufficient" to give rise to reasonable, articulable suspicion; rejecting argument that only "headlong" flight can support a stop).

Greenfield also errs in arguing (at 28-29) that his location in a park known for PCP sales is not relevant. Police were permitted to consider citizen reports of illegal PCP sales in the park after dark as a relevant circumstance in stopping Greenfield. See Howard, 929 A.2d at 845 (defendant's act of flagging down cars in area known for illegal drug transactions contributed to reasonable suspicion for stop); Singleton v. United States, 998 A.2d 295, 300 (D.C. 2010) ("Various factors are considered in determining whether a Terry stop is justified, including the time of day, flight, the high crime nature of the location.") (cleaned up);

see also Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 124 ("[O]fficers are not required to ignore the relevant characteristics of a location in determining whether the circumstances are sufficiently suspicious to warrant further investigation[;].... [T]he fact that the stop occurred in a 'high crime area' [is] among the relevant contextual considerations in a *Terry* analysis.").

2. Police Had Probable Cause to Support Their Arrest.

Contrary to Greenfield's claim (at 30, 32-37), police had probable cause to arrest him. Under D.C. law, a law enforcement officer may make a warrantless arrest of a person when the officer has probable cause to believe that person has committed or is committing a felony or a misdemeanor in the officer's presence. D.C. Code § 23-581(a)(l)(A)&(B). Probable cause to arrest exists where "the facts and circumstances within an officer's knowledge are sufficient to warrant a prudent police officer in believing that the suspect[] ha[s] committed or [is] committing an offense." *Butler v. United States*, 102 A.3d 736, 740 (D.C. 2014) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

"[P]robable cause 'deals with probabilities and depends on the totality of the circumstances." *District of Columbia v. Wesby*, 583 U.S.

48, 57 (2018) (quoting Maryland v. Pringle, 540 U.S. 366, 371 (2003)). It is "a fluid concept" that is "not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules," and "requires only a probability or substantial chance of criminal activity, not an actual showing of such activity." *Illinois v.* Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 232, 243-44 n.13 (1983). Probable cause accordingly "is not a high bar." Kaley v. United States, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014). "[P]robable cause . . . 'does not require the fine resolution of conflicting evidence that a reasonable-doubt or even a preponderance standard demands." Enders v. District of Columbia, 4 A.3d 457, 471 (D.C. 2010) (quoting Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 121 (1975)); see also Jenkins v. District of Columbia, 223 A.3d 884, 890 (D.C. 2020) (explaining that probable cause is a lower standard of proof than preponderance of the evidence); Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 742 (1983) (probable cause is a "flexible, common-sense standard" that "does not demand any showing that [the arresting officer's belief in a suspect's guilt] be correct or more likely true than false").

Here, the totality of circumstances established probable cause to arrest Greenfield for either or both possession of PCP and POCA.

a. Possession of PCP

First, as the court found, a police officer trained to recognize the distinctive smell of PCP observed that distinctive smell emanating from Greenfield, the smell got stronger as the officer drew closer to Greenfield, and Greenfield was alone in a park so that police could fairly link the odor to him or his bag (4-19-23 Tr. 230-31). This Court has held that the distinctive smell of PCP alone can provide not only reasonable articulable suspicion but also probable cause. See Minnick v. United States, 607 A.2d 519, 525 (D.C. 1992) (distinctive smell of PCP alone was sufficient probable cause to search occupied vehicle); see also Speight v. United States, 671 A.2d 442, 453 (D.C. 1996) ("no expectation of privacy in the distinctive smell of PCP emanating from the vehicle"); Butler, 102 A.3d at 741 ("odor may serve as the basis or principal basis for probable cause to arrest [where the officer is] able to link the unmistakable odor of [the contraband to a specific person") (cleaned up).

Additional facts bolstered the "probability or substantial chance," *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 243-44 n.13, that Greenfield possessed PCP. As we have noted in our discussion of reasonable suspicion, Greenfield was in a park that was known for PCP sales at the time of day he was there. He

walked hastily away when uniformed police arrived. He ignored police attempts to get him to stop and only did so when an officer placed a hand on his arm. Furthermore, when asked why he did not stop, he claimed he was simply drinking beer, despite the obvious smell of the PCP. See, e.g., Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1724, (2019) ("[A] suspect's untruthful and evasive answers to police questioning c[an] support probable cause.") (internal citation omitted); Stansbury v. Wertman, 721 F.3d 84, 92 (2d Cir. 2013) (defendant's evasive answers to questions a factor relevant to probable cause); United States v. \$242,484.00, 389 F.3d 1149. 1164 (11th Cir. 2004) (defendant's "suspicious and evasive answers," although far from dispositive, add to probable cause); United States v. Ameling, 328 F.3d 443, 449 (2003) (suspects' "apparently false statements" supported probable cause).

Under the totality of the circumstances, police had ample cause to arrest Greenfield for possession of PCP before they searched his bag. *See Butler*, 102 A.3d at 741-42 (police officer had probable cause to arrest defendant for drug-related offense where he smelled the strong odor of marijuana coming from defendant's car and defendant was sole occupant of the vehicle); *Dalton v. United States*, 58 A.3d 1005, 1013 (D.C. 2013)

(strong chemical odor of PCP coming from defendant and recognized by officers, in addition to fact that defendant had his hands in his waistband and failed to respond to several police orders to show his hands gave rise to probable cause to arrest and search defendant); *Wilson*, 802 A.2d at 372 (reasonable suspicion grounded in flight in high-crime area turned into probable cause when an officer, familiar with the odor and packaging of PCP, smelled PCP coming from defendant's person and observed tin foils of PCP being removed from pocket of person with defendant).

Greenfield suggests (at 42) that the police could not rely on the plain smell of PCP because the smell could have been on him if he had been in proximity to others smoking PCP. His argument lacks merit. As the court found, police identified the strong smell of PCP coming from Greenfield (4-19-23 Tr. 230-31). Moreover, the court credited testimony from Officer Moore that Greenfield was alone when police approached him and that the smell of PCP got stronger the closer the police drew to Greenfield (id. at 91-98). On these facts, the "unmistakeable odor" of PCP was linked to a "specific person"—Greenfield—and under the totality of the circumstances, police thereby obtained probable cause to arrest him. Butler, 102 A.3d at 741.

Greenfield also claims (at 42-43) that police could not develop probable cause on a plain-smell theory without a drug-sniffing dog. This Court has never imposed such a requirement, particularly where, as here, the court credited the officer's testimony that he recognized the distinctive smell and could link it to Greenfield. *See Butler*, 102 A.3d at 741; *Wilson*, 802 A.2d at 372; *Minnick*, 607 A.2d at 525

b. POCA

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